PERKINS THOMPSON

MEMORANDUM
TO: Members of the Portland Charter Commission
FROM: James N. Katsiaficas, Emily A. Arvizu
DATE: November 12, 2021
RE: Universal Resident (or Noncitizen) Voting in Municipal Elections

This memorandum updates a July 29, 2009 memorandum from former Corporation
Counsel Gary Wood to Members of the Portland Charter Commission regarding whether a
municipal charter may be amended to allow noncitizens to vote in municipal elections (the “Wood
Memo”). This memorandum provides background on the issue, a brief summary of discussions on
the topic by the 2010 Charter Commission, and an overview of recent legislative efforts and
opinions, followed by our opinion on the issue.

2010 Charter Commission Discussions

At the public’s request, the previous Portland Charter Commission, which convened in
2009 and issued its Final Report in 2010, took up the issue of whether to amend the Charter to
allow for noncitizen voting in municipal elections. According to the Final Report, the motion to
recommend an amendment to the Charter that would have allowed legal residents of Portland to
vote in municipal elections failed by the margin of 7 to 5.! A Minority Report, drafted by the five
commissioners who voted in favor of noncitizen voting, is contained in that Final Report.

The Final Report did not include the majority’s reasoning for voting against posing the
1ssue to voters, but a brief review of some archived documents from the 2010 Commission
indicates there may have been concern over the legality of such an amendment. As previously
noted, Corporation Counsel Wood submitted a memorandum to the 2010 Commission in July 2009
explaining the legal issues described below. He ultimately recommended that the Commission take
up the issue on the merits, and pose it to the voters if a majority of the Commission wanted to. If
the voters approved the stand-alone question, a court could issue a declaratory judgment deciding
the legality of the measure. However, when the 2010 Commission later approached Corporation
Counsel Wood again in 2010, requesting that he provide “a risk assessment on whether I think that
issue would survive legal challenge if it were put to the voters and the voters approved,” he
concluded that “the chances are 60/40 against that right surviving legal challenge. In other words,
I think the stronger legal arguments favor a court decision that would declare the right illegal in
light of existing state law.” Similarly, William W. Livengood, then Director of the Legal Services

! Portland Charter Commission, Final Report (July 16, 2010),
https://www.portlandmaine.gov/DocumentCenter/View/14761/Charter-Commission-Final-Report.
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Department of the Maine Municipal Association, provided a memorandum to the 2010
Commission also concluding that “in my opinion the authority of a municipality to adopt a home
rule charter provision permitting non-citizens to vote in municipal elections is, at best,
questionable.”” The unknown legality of a noncitizen voting provision seems to have been a
sticking point for the 2010 Commission, which opted not to pose the question to voters.

The Legal Issues

Maine’s Constitution, in Article II, Section 1, requires persons to be U.S. Citizens in order
to vote for State governor, senator or representative, but does not place the same, or any,
requirement on municipal elections. The principal legal issue here, then, is whether a municipality,
under its home rule authority under the Maine Constitution, has the ability to amend its charter to
allow for noncitizen legal City residents to vote in its municipal elections. The issue arises out of
the interplay between State and local election law. Article VIII, Part Second, Section 1 of the
Maine Constitution affords inhabitants of a municipality “the power to alter and amend their
charters on all matters, not prohibited by Constitution or general law, which are local and
municipal in character.”® Title 30-A of the Maine Revised Statutes governs municipalities and
provides in § 2501 that “[e]xcept as otherwise provided by this Title or by charter, the method of
voting and conduct of a municipal election are governed by Title 21-A.”* As the Wood Memo
noted, § 2501 “explicitly provides” that Charter authority “supersedes state law on the issues of
the method of voting and conduct of a municipal election but doesn’t extend that authority to the
qualifications for voting in par. [subsection] 2.” This is because §2501 (2), the subsection to which
Corporation Counsel Wood referred, establishes qualifications for voting; it reads: “[t]he
qualifications for voting in a municipal election conducted under this Title are governed solely by
Title 21-A, section 111.” (emphasis added) Title 21-A M.R.S. §111 then provides that “A person
who meets the following requirements may vote in any election in a municipality . . . [t]he person
must be a citizen of the United States.”® The express authority of a municipality to override the
qualifications for voting set by the Maine Legislature by adoption or amendment of a charter is
notably missing from this subsection.

Corporation Counsel Wood suggested that some ambiguity exists in Section 2501 because
it includes the phrase “municipal election conducted under this Title”. He wrote that “[t]he
inclusion of those words suggest that there are elections held at the local level that are not
conducted under Title 30-A”, leaving such elections beyond the purview of Section 111°s
citizenship requirement and subject only to the municipality’s home rule charter.

There also is the additional concern of whether such a charter provision is prohibited by
the Maine Constitution, but it generally is regarded that the bar to such a charter provision is
statutory, and not constitutional. In May 2009, then-Attorney General Janet Mills submitted
written testimony that a bill before the Maine Legislature authorizing any municipality to enact an

2 Memorandum from William W. Livengood, Director, Legal Services Dept. of the Maine Municipal Ass’n, to the
Portland Charter Comm. (July 28, 2009).

3 Me. Const. art. VIII, pt. 2, § 1 (emphasis added).

430-A M.R.S. § 2501 (emphasis added).

330-A M.R.S.A. § 2501(2).

621-AMR.S.A. § 111(1).
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ordinance allowing noncitizen residents to vote in municipal elections would not face any
“constitutional impediment”.” The bill at issue was an attempt by the Maine Legislature, not by a
municipality, to extend municipal voting rights to noncitizens. Thus, while there is little doubt of
the authority of the Maine Legislature to grant municipalities the power to extend municipal voting
rights to noncitizen residents, the authority of a municipality itself to extend such rights by
municipal charter alone remains in question.

Recent Developments

In the years since the last Charter Commission, the issue of noncitizen municipal voting
rights has continued to be a matter of public debate. Most recently, the Maine Legislature
considered L.D. 107, which sought to amend the State Constitution to expressly limit the right to
vote in any state, county, municipal or local election exclusively to citizens.® Attorney General
Aaron Frey submitted written testimony stating that the amendment would be duplicative because
“municipalities are not currently able to adopt ordinances to allow non-citizens to vote in
municipal elections” since doing so would violate Titles 30-A and 21-A (as described above).’
The Maine Municipal Association also testified in 2021 that L.D. 107 was duplicative because,
under section 2501 of Title 30-A, municipalities may only amend their charters with regard to the
method of voting and the conduct of a local election, “and not with respect to who is eligible to
vote.”10

Conclusion

The issue of whether a municipality has home rule authority to amend its charter to permit
what now is called “universal resident voting” by noncitizen residents in municipal elections
remains unresolved. There has been no relevant new legislative enactment or State constitutional
amendment and there have been no Maine court decisions interpreting these provisions since the
2010 Final Report was issued. However, in the context of proposed legislation in 2021 for a
constitutional amendment to limit the right to vote in municipal elections to U. S. citizens, the
position expressed by the Office of the Maine Attorney General and by the Maine Municipal
Association was that it was unnecessary because State law already limited voting in municipal
elections to citizens, and by defeating that bill, the Maine Legislature apparently accepted that
position. Thus, while the law has not changed since 2010, the opinion of parties with knowledge
and influence regarding the interpretation of that law has changed. As a result, while it is
impossible to state definitively how Maine courts would rule, we think the better position on the
issue is that absent an amendment to State law, a municipality does not have home rule authority
under Maine’s Constitution to amend its charter to extend the right to vote in a municipal election

7 An Act To Allow Noncitizen Residents To Vote in Municipal Elections: Hearing on L.D. 1195 Before the J.
Standing Comm. On Legal and Veterans Affairs, 124th Legis. 1 (2009) (written testimony of Janet T. Mills,
Attorney General).

8 See L.D. 107 (130th Legis. 2021).

9 Resolution, Proposing an Amendment to the Constitution of Maine to Specify the Qualifications of Electors:
Hearing on L.D. 107 Before the J. Standing Comm. On Legal and Veterans Affairs, 130th Legis. 2021 (written
testimony of Aaron M. Frey, Attorney General).

10 Resolution, Proposing an Amendment to the Constitution of Maine to Specify the Qualifications of Electors:
Hearing on L.D. 107 Before the J. Standing Comm. On Legal and Veterans Affairs, 130th Legis. 2021 (written
testimony of the Maine Municipal Association).
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to noncitizens, since State law -- 30-A M.R.S. §2105(2) -- establishes voter qualifications for local
elections that effectively prohibit such a charter amendment.

{P1948397.3} PERKINS THOMPSON
PAGE 4



